IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

		Electronically Filed Jun 07 2016 12:36 p.m.
KEVIN MARQUETTE GIPSON,)	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court CASE NO: 69174
Appellant,)	CASE NO: 69174
)	
v.)	District Court Case No.
)	10C264079
THE STATE OF NEVADA,)	
)	
Respondent.)	
)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada Honorable David B. Barker and William D. Kephart

Carmine J. Colucci, Esq.
Attorney at Law
Nevada Bar No.: 0881
629 S. Sixth St.
Las Vegas, NV 89101
(702)384-1274
E-Mail: cjclasvegas@gmail.com
Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

(A) Basis for appellate jurisdiction

NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015 (3)

(B) Filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal

03/13/12 Judgment of Conviction filed

10/22/15 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law regarding

Appellant's post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus

11/7/15 Notice of Appeal Filed

(C) Assertion of Final Order or Judgment

This appeal is from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus.

II.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Issue A:

Whether Appellant's trial counsel was ineffective under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

Issue B:

Whether Appellant had the competence to plead guilty.

III.

ROUTING STATEMENT

As this appeal challenges only a Judgment of Conviction and corresponding sentence imposed, this matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

A. Nature of the Case

On April 28, 2010, Appellant, KEVIN GIPSON (hereinafter GIPSON), was charged by way of Grand Jury Indictment with one count of the crime of Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Felony - NRS200.010, 200.030, 193.165). (KMG @ 1)¹

On December 7, 2011, GIPSON entered into a Guilty Plea Agreement with the State whereby he agreed to plead guilty to the charge as alleged in the Indictment. Pursuant to negotiations, the parties stipulated to a sentence of twenty (20) years to life in the Nevada Department of Corrections. Moreover, the parties retained the right to argue the deadly weapon enhancement for a term of not less than four (4) to eight (8) years. (KMG @ 4)

On February 10, 2012, Appellant was present in court with counsel, at which time he was sentenced to the Nevada Department of

¹ Hereafter KMG shall refer to "Kevin Marquette Gipson Appendix." The number immediately following is the volume and page number of the appendix where the reference can be found.

Corrections as follows: life with a possible parole eligibility of Twenty (20) years, with a consecutive term of Two Hundred Forty (240) months maximum and Ninety-Six (96) months minimum for Use of a Deadly Weapon with Six Hundred Eighty-Six (686) days credit for time served. Judgment of Conviction was filed on March 13, 2012. (KMG @ 13)

B. Prior Proceedings

Thereafter, Appellant filed a Pro Per Motion to Withdraw Plea on September 5, 2012. (KMG @ 15) A hearing on that motion was held September 26, 2012. Said motion was denied by the court on September 26, 2012, and an order entered on September 27, 2012. (KMG @ 20)

Appellant subsequently filed a Pro Per Motion to Proceed in Forma Pauperis on October 15, 2012. (KMG @ 22) Said motion was granted on November 7, 2012. Appellant then filed an Ex Parte Motion for Appointment of counsel and Request for Evidentiary Hearing on October 15, 2012. (KMG @ 25)

On November 5, 2012, Appellant filed a Pro Per Motion for Direct Appeal/Memorandum of Points and Authorities Facts of the Case, (KMG @ 32) "may have been construed as a notice of appeal. "...Further,

at the same time, case appeal statement was filed which triggered Supreme Court review..." (see court minutes dated January 28, 2013) (KMG @105). This Honorable Court issued its Order Dismissing Appeal on December 20, 2012, stating, "an appeal deprivation claim must be raised in a post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus filed in the district court in the first instance." (KMG @ 43) Previously, this Court issued an Order of Limited Remand for Appointment of Counsel. (KMG @ 103)

Thereafter, the case was returned to the district court, where on January 13, 2016, Carmine J. Colucci, Esq., was appointed counsel for Appellant for the purpose of this appeal. (KMG @ 105)

C. Disposition by Court Below

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on September 10, 2015 before the Honorable William D. Kephart, district judge. An order denying Appellant's post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus was filed on October 22, 2015. (KMG @ 93)

Appellant filed a pro per notice of appeal on November 12, 2015.

The undersigned was appointed as appellate counsel on January 19, 2016. (KMG @ 105)

V.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

(In that Appellant pled guilty per negotiations and was indicted, the facts, as set forth herein are taken from investigative reports.)

On March 25, 2010, Brittany Lavoll was shot in the parking lot of the "Jack in the Box" restaurant where she worked. The business was located at 7541 West Lake Mead Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada. According to witnesses, the shooting occurred at approximately 5:45 a.m.

The three witnesses described the perpetrator to police as a male dressed in a dark hooded sweatshirt who was seen running from the scene. Witness, Wade Fleming, quickly observed Lavoll and thought she was dead. Robert Gilmore, another witness, called "911." Christina Benitez was a third witness who claimed to have seen the man in the dark hoodie running from the scene. Fleming and Gilmore were drawn

to the area where Brittany Lovall was found by the sound of what they felt was a gunshot.

A witness named Bailey, who worked at a grocery store in the same shopping center as the Jack in the Box, initially saw a woman lying on the ground and the man in the dark hoodie standing over her. Bailey thought the man was helping the woman who Bailey thought might be "drunk."

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (hereinafter, LVMPD) officers arrived at the scene located at 7541 West Lake Mead Boulevard and Brittany Lovall was immediately transported to University Medical Center where she was pronounced dead at 6:15 a.m. An autopsy conducted on March 26, 2010, and it was determined that the cause of death was a gunshot to the head.

Brittany Lovall's father met police at the crime scene and told police that Brittany had been in an abusive relationship with Kevin Gipson and that they had two (2) children together. He related that they had broken up a year before but that he (GIPSON) had been stalking her.

Detectives of the LVMPD ultimately located GIPSON and arranged to meet him on the afternoon of March 25th. GIPSON allegedly agreed to speak with the detectives, which he ultimately did. GIPSON provided them with an alibi to support his statement that he could not have been at the scene of the shooting when it occurred. GIPSON denied having an abusive relationship with Lovall. Moreover, GIPSON said that he had recently tried to contact Lovall in order to arrange a visit with their children.

After interviewing GIPSON, the police asked him to take a modified polygraph test. Such test is called a "Concealed Information Test." The next day the police gave GIPSON such a Concealed Information Test. Part and parcel of the test, LVMPD detectives Mirandized him and GIPSON then took the test. According to the detectives, he "failed it." He was told by LVMPD Detective Geoffrey Flohr that by "failing," he must have knowledge of the murder that only the killer would know.

GIPSON, without the services of an attorney, was confronted with this accusation. Gipson told them that he had been in and out of a mental hospital and that he killed Brittany Lovall because she "drove him crazy." Allegedly, GIPSON managed to find out where Lovall worked prior to meeting her on March 25, 2010. Police speculated that GIPSON went to the Jack in the Box and laid in wait for Lavoll and then shot her.

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred in not granting Appellant's post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. Appellant alleged he was denied the effective assistance of counsel. In that Appellant was mentally challenged, hallucinating, delusional, never read the Guilty Plea Agreement, and was told what to say during the plea canvass, his trial counsel was ineffective.

Appellant was found to be competent to stand trial. However, he was never found competent to waive his constitutional rights and plead guilty to first degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon.

VII.

ARGUMENT

A. Appellant was Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel in Violation of His Right to Counsel as Guaranteed Under the Sixth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States

1. The Standard

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact, which is subject to independent review upon Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 appeal. (1996). A defendant must prove the facts underlying an ineffective assistance of counsel claim by preponderance of the evidence. The Court's review of defense counsel's performance is highly deferential. There are circumstances warranting relief. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011, 103 P.3d 25, 32 (2004); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2065, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). In the context of an appeal deprivation claim, prejudice may be presumed if the petitioner was deprived of the right to direct appeal due to the ineffective assistance of counsel. Hathaway v. State, 99 Nev. 248, 71 P.3d 503 (2003); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 871 P.2d 944 (1994).

Nevada has adopted the two-pronged test outlined in <u>Strickland</u>, <u>supra</u>, for determining the effectiveness of counsel. Under <u>Strickland</u>, in order to assert a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must prove that he was denied "reasonably effective assistance" of counsel by satisfying a two-pronged test. <u>Strickland</u>; see also, State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 1138, 865 P.2d 322, 323 (1993).

Under the <u>Strickland</u> test, the defendant must show: first, that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and second, that but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. See <u>Strickland</u>, at 687-688 and 694. The defendant bears the burden to satisfy both requirements in order to prevail. Strickland at 697; <u>Means v. State</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1011.

Inadequate performance is representation that falls below an objective standard of reasonableness. Id. (citing <u>Dawson v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 112, 115, 825 P.2d 593, 595 (1992)]. The role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether,

under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978) (citing <u>Cooper v. Fitzharris</u>, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)).

considering whether the defendant has an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the court must determine whether counsel conducted a reasonable investigation of the facts relevant to the defendant's case. Doleman v. State, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278 Next, the court must consider whether counsel made "a (1996).reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client's case." Doleman, id. at 846; citing Strickland, supra, at 690-691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. While counsel's strategy decision is a "tactical" decision and will be "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." Doleman, supra, at 846; see also Howard v. State, 106 Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990); Strickland, supra, at 691, 104 S.Ct at 2066. It is not without limitation. The defendant has the burden of overcoming the presumption that trial counsel's actions were the product of sound trial strategy. Means, 120 Nev. At 1012, 103 P.3d at 33 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, quoting Michel v. Louisiana, 350 U.S. 91, 101, 76 S.Ct. 158 (1955)).

Even if counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 263, 1268 (1999) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687.) "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id.

Claims asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief must be supported with specific factual allegations, which if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. Id.

2. Appellant's Diminished Mental Abilities Required Extraordinary Legal Assistance.

Appellant pled guilty, but mentally ill, to a charge of first degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon. (KMG @ 115, Tr., 12/7/11, pp.

2, 3). There is no question Appellant was mentally challenged. His court-appointed attorney conceded such at the evidentiary hearing:

"Q Okay. Did you represent Mr. Gipson from the inception of that case?

A Yes.

Q And you – during the course of your preparation for that case, of course, you investigated his background?

A Yes.

Q And during this pretrial investigation process, you became aware that he had some mental health issues?

A Yes, very early on.

Q And do you know what those mental health issues were?

Do you remember?

A $\,$ I think - I think it was schizophrenia maybe bipolar disorder. I'm just not - I haven't relooked at his diagnoses."

(KMG @ 115, Tr., 12/7/11, p. 22)

Clearly, this factor raised concern with his court-appointed trial counsel who engaged the services of a psychiatrist, Dr. Dodge A. Slagle. Dr. Slagle evaluated Appellant and found him to be competent to stand trial. However, Dr. Slagle's psychiatric forensic evaluation report concluded with the observation:

"Mr. Gipson is suffering from delusions and hallucinations, but these symptoms do not render him incompetent at this time. He is in need of continuing psychiatric treatment."

Dodge A. Slagle, DO

Diplomate, American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, Inc.

(KMG @ 112)

Hence, Appellant was hallucinating and delusional.

Unquestionably, he required legal assistance that was above and beyond what the standard legal client received. Sadly, he received less.

He never saw the guilty plea agreement until he arrived in court—where he pled guilty (but mentally ill) to first degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon. (KMG @ 115, Tr., 12/7/11, p. 7) Moreover, counsel never discussed the agreement with Appellant. (KMG @ 115,

Tr., 12/7/11, pp. 7,8). And stunningly, at that time, Appellant was under the influence of anti-psychotic, anti-depressant medication (Evadra – phonetic), because he was "hearing voices." (KMG @ 115, Tr., 12/7/11, p. 8).

Additionally, he was never shown the discovery in his case, despite requesting it numerous times. The guilty plea agreement was never discussed with him, and his appellate rights were never considered. (KMG @ 115, Tr., 12/17/11, pp. 8-10).

One thing Appellant's counsel did do for him was to tell him what answers to utter during the guilty plea canvass. (KMG @ 115, Tr., 12/7/11, pp. 11, 12, 14, 15, 32). This Honorable Court doesn't just "consider the technical sufficiency of the plea canvass; it reviews the entire record and looks to the totality of the facts and circumstances of a case." Hurd v. State, 114 Nev. 182, 187, 953 P.2d 270 (1998), citing Bryant v. State, 112 Nev. 268, 270, 721 P.2d 364, 366 (1986)

Here, the combination of Appellant's schizophrenia, delusions, and hallucinations dictated that additional time and effort be used to convey the import and consequences of pleading guilty to first degree murder

with the use of a deadly weapon. Appellant had a long history of problems associated with mental illness. The combination of these factors put his counsel on notice that extra effort was needed to protect Appellant's due process rights.

Clearly, the record unequivocally indicates that his trial counsel's errors fell well below an objective standard of reasonableness for mentally challenged litigants. He didn't even read the entire Guilty Plea Agreement before pleading guilty. (KMG @ 115, Tr. 12/7/11, p. 19)

Had he discussed the Guilty Plea Agreement, in its entirety, the results of the proceedings would have been different because if he wasn't hearing voices and realized the full import of what he was doing, he would not have been convicted of first degree murder with the use of a deadly weapon. The net result is that it is painfully obvious that both Strickland prongs have been met here.

B. Appellant was not Competent to Plead Guilty.

In this case, Dr. Slagle examined Appellant and found him competent to stand trial. However, there is a separate and distinct issue

about Appellant's competence to plead guilty to first degree murder. More specifically, a number of courts have held that the Supreme Court's decision in Westbrook v. Arizona, 384 US 150, 84 S. Ct. 1320, 16 L.Ed.2d 429 (1966), requires a separate hearing to be held on the defendant's competence to plead guilty, after a defendant has been found competent to stand trial. U.S. v. Masthers, 539 F.2d 721 (CADC 1976); Seiling v. Eyman, 478 F.2d 211 (9th Cir. 1973). One court has noted the existence of a dual standard, but also observed that there is no fixed formula for determination of the need for a competency hearing:

"There are no fixed signs that inevitably trigger the need for a competency hearing, and no court can prescribe such a list for future courts to follow. . . . The need for a competency hearing must be determined in each case by the peculiar circumstances of that case. Once it is clear, however, that "something is amiss," it is the court's responsibility not to ignore the signals but to act upon them and hold a competency hearing."

Osborne v, Thompson, 481 F. Supp 162, 170 (M.D. Tenn. 1979)

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has stated the test of competence to plead guilty as that level of competence which "enables [the defendant] to make decisions of very serious import. . . . A defendant is not competent to plead guilty if a mental illness has substantially impaired his ability to make a reasoned choice among the alternatives presented to him and to understand the nature of the consequences of his plea." Sieling v. Eyman, 478 F.2d 211, 215 (9th Cir. 1973). See also, State v. Sims, 575 P.2d 1236 (Ariz. 1978); State v. Fuchs, 597 P.2d 227 (Idaho 1979).

Several federal constitutional rights are involved in a waiver that takes place when a plea of guilty is entered in a criminal case. First, is the privilege against compulsory self-incrimination guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment and applicable to the States by reason of the Fourteenth. Malloy v. Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 84 S. Ct. 1489, 12 L.Ed.2d 653 (1964). Second, is the right to trial by jury. Duncan v. Lousiana, 391 U.S. 145, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20 L.Ed.2d 491 (1968). Third, is the right to confront one's accusers. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965); Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709,

1712, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969). Consequently, judges must exercise the "utmost solicitude of which they are capable in canvassing the matter with the accused to make sure he has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence." <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, supra, 89 S. Ct. at 1712.

It is of course well settled that a defendant in a criminal case cannot be deemed to abandon any fundamental constitutional protection unless there is both "an intelligent and competent waiver by the accused." Westbrook v. Arizona, supra.

Clearly, <u>Westbrook</u> makes it plain that, where a defendant's competency has been put in issue, the trial court must look further than to the usual "objective" criteria in determining the adequacy of a constitutional waiver. In <u>Westbrook</u>, although the trial court had, after hearing, concluded that the defendant was mentally competent to stand trial, the Supreme Court deemed is essential that a further "inquiry into the issue of his competence to waive his constitutional right to the assistance of counsel . . ." was required. 384 U.S. at 150. It was not suggested there, nor is it in this case, that the trial court's

determination that GIPSON was competent to stand trial was incorrect. The clear implication, then, is that such a determination is inadequate because it does not measure the defendant's capacity by a high enough standard. While the Supreme Court did not suggest a standard, it is reasonable to conclude from the Court's language that the degree of competency required to waive a constitutional right is that degree which enables a criminal defendant to make decisions of very serious import.

A strikingly similar situation arose in <u>Moran v. Godinez</u>, 972 F.2d 263 (9th Cir. 1992). There, defendant Moran pled guilty to three counts of capital murder. Ultimately, he was sentenced to death.

As part of the appellate process, he filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in federal court alleging he was not competent to enter the guilty pleas. He was deemed competent to stand trial, just as GIPSON here. But, that court determined:

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