IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jul 07 2016 02:53 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

KEVIN MARQUETTE GIPSON,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 69174

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Denying Appellant's Post-Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court was correct in denying Gipson's Petition, albeit for the wrong reasons. Gipson's Petition was procedurally barred pursuant to NRS 34.726, as he failed to file his Petition within one year of the filing of his Judgment of Conviction. He failed to establish an impediment external to the defense that would constitute good cause to consider the Petition on the merits. Therefore, the District Court should have dismissed the Petition under NRS 34.726, rather than considering it on the merits.

That said, Gipson's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel and that he was incompetent to plead guilty were meritless. First, the plea canvass, Guilty Plea

Agreement, and the testimony of Craig during the evidentiary hearing on the Petition establish that Gipson's mental health issues were well-investigated and that he entered his plea of guilty without coercion and with adequate advice from counsel. Second, while Gipson contends that a higher standard of competency applies to guilty pleas, the United States Supreme Court has rejected this proposition, and the record shows that Gipson was competent under the constitutional standard.

Accordingly, the State respectfully requests that this Court AFFIRM the District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order denying Gipson's Petition.

ARGUMENT I

Gipson's Petition Was Untimely, Without Sufficient Good Cause

Gipson's Judgment of Conviction was filed on March 13, 2012; he did not file a timely direct appeal. 1 AA 13-14. Gipson's initial Petition was filed June 6, 2014, approximately 2 years, 2 months, and 24 days after the Judgment of Conviction, making that Petition and the subsequent Supplemental Petitions procedurally barred under NRS 34.726(1). 1 AA 45-75. Instead of dismissing pursuant to the procedural bar, the District Court erroneously considered the Petition on the merits.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that district courts have a *duty* to consider whether a defendant's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred, and must not arbitrarily disregard them. State v. Dist. Court (Riker), 121 Nev.

225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The <u>Riker Court found that "[a]pplication of</u> the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

<u>Id.</u>; see also <u>State v. Haberstroh</u>, 119 Nev. 173, 180-81, 69 P.3d 676, 681-82 (2003) (parties cannot stipulate to waive, ignore or disregard the mandatory procedural default rules nor can they empower a court to disregard them). Additionally, the Nevada Supreme Court in <u>Riker</u> noted that procedural bars "cannot be ignored [by the district courts] when properly raised by the State." <u>Riker</u>, 121 Nev. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules *must* be applied.

This position was recently reaffirmed by the Nevada Supreme Court in <u>State v. Greene</u>, 129 Nev. ____, 307 P.3d 322 (2013). There, the Nevada Supreme Court ruled that the defendant's petition was "untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ" and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 326. Accordingly, the Court reversed the district court and ordered the defendant's petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. Id. at 322–23.

Likewise, this Petition is procedurally barred. The mandatory provision of NRS 34.726(1) states:

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year after entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

(emphasis added).

Per the statutory language, the one-year time bar prescribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur issues from a timely direct appeal. <u>Dickerson v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133-34 (1998); <u>see Pellegrini v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 860, 873, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001) (holding that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning).

The Nevada Supreme Court demonstrated the strict deadline set by NRS 34.726(1) in Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 593, 590 P.3d 901, 902 (2002). There the Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two days late, pursuant to the "clear and unambiguous" mandatory provisions of NRS 34.726(1). <u>Id. Gonzales</u> reiterated the importance of filing the petition with the District Court within the one-

year mandate, absent a showing of "good cause" for the delay in filing. <u>Id.</u> The oneyear time bar is therefore strictly construed.

Gipson's Petition was filed on June 6, 2014, approximately 2 years, 2 months, and 24 days after the Judgment of Conviction on March 13, 2012. 1 AA 13-14, 45-75. Accordingly, NRS 34.726(1) was directly applicable.

To avoid procedural default under NRS 34.726, a defendant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or comply with the statutory requirements.

See Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959-60, 860 P.2d 710, 715-16 (1993); Phelps v. Nevada Dep't of Prisons, 104 Nev. 656, 659, 764 P.2d 1303, 1305 (1988), superseded by statute on other grounds as recognized in Nika v. State, 120 Nev. 600, 607, 97 P.3d 1140, 1145 (2004).

"To establish good cause, appellants must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003); see Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 251, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003); Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537. Such an external impediment could be "that the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available to counsel, or that 'some interference by officials' made compliance impracticable." Hathaway, 74 P.3d at 506 (quoting Murray v. Carrier, 477 U.S. 478, 488, 106 S. Ct. 2639, 2645 (1986)); see also Gonzalez, 118 Nev. at

595, 53 P.3d at 904 (citing <u>Harris v. Warden</u>, 114 Nev. 956, 959-60 n.4, 964 P.2d 785 n.4 (1998)). Any delay in filing of the petition must not be the fault of the defendant. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

The Nevada Supreme Court has clarified that, "appellants cannot attempt to manufacture good cause." <u>Clem</u>, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." <u>Hathaway</u>, 119 Nev. at 251, 71 P.3d at 506. Excuses such as the lack of assistance of counsel when preparing a petition, as well as the failure of trial counsel to forward a copy of the file to a petitioner have been found not to constitute good cause. <u>See Phelps</u>, 104 Nev. at 660, 764 P.2d at 1306; Hood v. State, 111 Nev. 335, 890 P.2d 797 (1995).

Below, Gipson alleged good cause existed to ignore the procedural bar of NRS 34.726 because his counsel, Carmine Collucci, Esq., was unaware of the impeding time bar when Mr. Colucci was appointed approximately 19 days prior to the running of the 1 year time-bar under NRS 34.726(1). 1 AA 60-63. He argued that the setting of a status check past the one-year time-bar date of March 13, 2013, and the filing of stipulations and orders to extend the briefing schedule support his argument and constitute good cause to overcome the procedural bar. <u>Id.</u> However, Gipson failed to mention that in the stipulations and orders filed on January 7, 2014, and February 6, 2014, the State specifically retained the right to assert the procedural time-bar of NRS 34.726(1). 1 RA 23-27. Furthermore, even if there was a stipulation made, the

State is prohibited from waiving the procedural time-bar and district courts are prohibited from disregarding procedural bars even if parties stipulate to do so:

[W]e hold that the parties in a post-conviction habeas proceeding cannot stipulate to disregard the statutory procedural default rules. We direct all counsel in the future not to enter into stipulations like the one in this case and direct the district courts not to adopt such stipulations.

Haberstroh, 119 Nev. at 181, 69 P.3d at 682. Therefore, the date of the status check and the stipulations and orders, even if they had not reserved the right to assert the time-bar, cannot constitute good cause.

Additionally, Gipson argued in his Reply that he needed to request transcripts from the District Court in order to complete the Petition, and that this constitutes good cause. 1 RA 39-40. It does not. Gipson had a year from the date of the Judgment of Conviction to seek transcripts, and his failure to do so until the last minute is not an impediment external to the defense. Clem, 119 Nev. at 621, 81 P.3d at 525. Nor can any negligence or shortcomings by post-conviction counsel be considered good cause. Brown v. Warden, 130 Nev. ____, ___, 331 P.3d 867, 871–72 (2014) (noting that even ineffective assistance by post-conviction counsel, other than in capital cases, cannot excuse the procedural bars).

Accordingly, Gipson failed to demonstrate good cause to consider his untimely Petition below. Accordingly, Gipson's Petition was time-barred, and the District Court had a duty to dismiss it, rather than consider it on the merits. Riker,

121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074. Thus, the Petition was correctly denied, albeit for incorrect reasons.

II Gipson's Claims Were Correctly Found to Lack Merit

Even if Gipson's Petition was not untimely, it was properly denied on the merits. Gipson contends now that the District Court erred in denying two claims: (1) a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately advise Gipson before he pleaded guilty, given his mental health issues, and (2) a claim that he was incompetent to plead guilty.¹

A. Gipson Received Effective Assistance of Counsel

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are analyzed under the two-pronged test articulated in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), wherein the defendant must show: (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. <u>Id.</u> at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. "A court may consider the two test elements in any order and need not consider both prongs if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on either one." Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1997).

18

¹ Gipson's Opening Brief does not allege any other error in the District Court's denial of his Petition and Supplement. The State notes that Gipson may not raise new claims in a reply brief. NRAP 28(c).

"Surmounting Strickland's high bar is never an easy task." Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356. 371,130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010). The question is whether an attorney's representations amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, "not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 88, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778 (2011). Further, "[e]ffective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975) (quoting McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 1449 (1970)).

This Court begins with a presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the defendant has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-12, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004). The role of a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." Donovan v. State, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978) (citing Cooper v. Fitzharris, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)).

In considering whether trial counsel was effective, this Court must determine whether counsel made a "sufficient inquiry into the information . . . pertinent to his client's case." <u>Doleman v State</u>, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690–91, 104 S. Ct. at 2066). Then, the court will consider whether counsel made "a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client's case." <u>Doleman</u>, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280 (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690–91, 104 S. Ct. at 2066).

Counsel's strategic and tactical decisions are "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." <u>Doleman</u>, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280. Trial counsel "has the immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." <u>Wainwright v. Sykes</u>, 433 U.S. 72, 93, 97 S. Ct. 2497, 2510 (1977); <u>accord Rhyne v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

This analysis does not indicate that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics, nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Donovan</u>, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711 (citing <u>Cooper</u>, 551 F.2d at 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)). In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at

690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. However, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections, file futile motions, or for failing to make futile arguments. Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 706, 137 P.3d 1095, 1103 (2006).

In order to meet the "prejudice" prong of the test, the defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068.

When ineffective assistance of counsel claims are asserted in a petition for post-conviction relief, the claims must be supported with specific factual allegations which, if true, would entitle the petitioner to relief. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). "Bare" and "naked" allegations are not sufficient, nor are those belied and repelled by the record. <u>Id.</u>

Here, Gipson claims that he was entitled to a higher degree of effective assistance of counsel due to his delusional and hallucinatory state. Opening Brief at 13. However, he provides absolutely no support for the proposition that a defendant suffering from mental health problems is entitled to more than <u>Strickland</u> requires.

Further, any allegation that counsel did not adequately investigate Gipson's mental health issues is clearly belied by the record, including the evidentiary hearing testimony of Craig as well as the report prepared by Dr. Slagle, which indicated that,

despite these issues, Gipson was competent to proceed to trial. 1 AA 112-14, 150. Additionally, it is clear based on the plea canvass that Craig had investigated Gipson's mental illness. She requested that the District Court allow Gipson to enter a plea of guilty but mentally ill. 1 AA 116. The District Court acknowledged that both Craig and the State had informed it that it was the intent of Gipson to enter a plea of guilty but mentally ill consistent with NRS 174.035. <u>Id.</u> The parties agreed that the plea canvass would move forward in a typical fashion, and the decision regarding whether Gipson was mentally ill would occur at sentencing with the burden on the defendant. 1 AA 116-17. This is evidence that plea counsel knew of Gipson's alleged mental health issues, and attempted to bring them before the court at multiple junctures.

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